CLEILA, SUPREME COURT By_______ Chief Deputy Clerk IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA CASE NO. 66,753

JOHN MARTIN HIGDON,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON MERITS

Craig Stephen Boda, P.A. Attorney for Petitioner 630 N. Wild Olive Ave. Daytona Beach, Florida 32018 904-255-0464

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The official Record on Appeal in this cause consists of seven (7) volumes:

Volume I, numbered as pages 1 - 177 Volume II, numbered as pages 178 - 374 Volume III, numbered as pages 375 - 549 Volume IV, numbered as pages 550 - 733 Volume V, numbered as pages 734 - 852 Volume VI, numbered as pages 853 - 1019 Volume VII, numbered as pages 1020 - 1173

For the purposes of this Brief, any reference to the Record on Appeal in this cause shall be captioned as "(R-V___, p. ___)", which shall refer to the appropriate volume number and the appropriate page number of the Record on Appeal.

The STATE OF FLORIDA was the Plaintiff in the trial court and the Appellee in the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal. For the purposes of this Brief, the STATE OF FLORIDA will be referred to as the Respondent.

JOHN MARTIN HIGDON was the Defendant in the trial court and the Appellant in the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal. For the purposes of this Brief, JOHN MARTIN HIGDON will be referred to as the Petitioner. JOHN MARTIN HIGDON,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

IN THE SUPREME COURT

STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 66,753

_____/

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 1, 1982, the STATE OF FLORIDA filed a five (5) count Information charging the Petitioner, JOHN MARTIN HIGDON, with the following criminal offenses:

- a. Count I: driving while intoxicated resulting in a death; a violation of Section 860.01, Florida Statutes;
- b. Count II: driving while intoxicated resulting in a death; a violation of Section 860.01, Florida Statutes;
- c. Count III: failure to stop at an accident scene resulting in death or personal injury; a violation of Section 316.027, Florida Statutes;
- d. Count IV: driving while license suspended or revoked; a violation of Section 322.34, Florida Statutes;
- e. Count V: driving with foreign license during suspension or revocation; a violation of Section 322.30, Florida Statutes.

On April 27, 1982, the Defendant/Petitioner filed a written plea of not guilty.

Between the dates of April 19, 1983, and April 22, 1983, trial was held in the Circuit Court of the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Volusia County, Florida, on the above-referenced charges.

On April 22, 1983, the jury returned its verdicts of guilty as to Count I of the instructed lesser included offense

of vehicular homicide, guilty as to Count II of the instructed lesser included offense of vehicular homicide, guilty as to Count III, guilty as to Count IV, and guilty as to Count V.

On July 29, 1983, there was filed the Court's Judgment and Sentence entered July 27, 1983.

On July 28, 1983, Defendant/Appellant/Petitioner timely filed his Notice of Appeal to the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal, Daytona Beach, Volusia County, Florida.

On November 23, 1984, the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal issued its Per Curiam Opinion affirming Petitioner's convictions and certifying the following question to be one of great public importance: (See Appendix "1"):

> Is the schedule of lesser included offenses promulgated by the Florida Supreme Court in 1981 in error in classifying vehicular homicide (Section 782.071) as a necessarily lesser included offense of DWI manslaughter (Section 860.01)?

On November 27, 1984, Petitioner timely filed his Motion for Rehearing pursuant to Rule 9.330 (a) (b) Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

On November 27, 1984, Petitioner likewise filed his Motion for Rehearing En Banc pursuant to Rule 9.331 (c) (1) (2) Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

On February 14, 1985, the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal filed its Opinion On Motion for Rehearing withdrawing its previously issued Opinion of November 23, 1984, and adopting the previous dissent and reversing Petitioner's convictions for vehicular homicide pursuant to Section 782.071 Florida Statutes;

-2-

the Court certified the issues raised within said Opinion to be of great public importance so as "to resolve the discrepancy between the standard jury instructions and <u>Baker</u>". (See Appendix "2").

On March 14, 1985, the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal vacated its Opinion of February 14, 1985, and readopted its Opinion of November 23, 1984, affirming Petitioner's convictions for vehicular homicide pursuant to Section 782.071 Florida Statutes (1981) and certifying the following question as one of great public importance: (See Appendix "3"):

> Is the schedule of lesser included offenses promulgated by the Florida Supreme Court in 1981 in error in classifying vehicular homicide (Section 782.071) as a necessarily lesser included offense of DWI manslaughter (Section 860.01)?

The Court likewise certified direct conflict by said Opinions of November 23, 1984, and March 14, 1985, and the Opinions of the Florida First District Court of Appeal in <u>Houser v. State</u>, 456 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) and the Florida Second District Court of Appeal in Mastro v. State, 448 So.2d 626 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984).

On March 19, 1985, the Petitioner timely filed his Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction to review the decision of the Court rendered on November 23, 1984.

On March 20, 1985, Petitioner timely filed his <u>Amended</u> Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction to review the decision of the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal rendered on March 14, 1985, which said Opinion certified a question to be of great public importance.

-3-

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The events which led to the conviction of Petitioner upon the charges of vehicular homicide, failure to stop at an accident scene resulting in death or personal injury, driving while license suspended or revoked, and driving with foreign driver's license during suspension or revocation arose out of an incident which occurred on the 24th day of February, 1982, at or near Lake Helen, Volusia County, Florida. The Petitioner was charged with having operated his motor vehicle while intoxicated resulting in the deaths of Edward K. Balken and Michael Rhodes as they rode bicycles along Kicklighter Road in Lake Helen, Florida. The Information charging Petitioner with the criminal offenses of driving while intoxicated resulting in death, charged as violations of Section 860.01 Florida Statutes (R-V. 7, p. 1058) read as follows:

> <u>Count One Charge</u>: driving while intoxicated resulting in a death, in violation of F.S. 860.01 <u>Specifications of Charge</u>: In that John Martin Higdon, on or about the 24th day of February, 1982, at or near Lake Helen, within Volusia County, Florida, did drive or operate a motor vehicle over the highways, streets or thoroughfares of Florida while intoxicated to the extent as to deprive John Martin Higdon of full possession of his normal faculties, within Volusia County, Florida, and the death of Edward K. Balken, a human being, was caused by the operation of said motor vehicle by John Martin Higdon while intoxicated.

> <u>Count Two Charge</u>: driving while intoxicated resulting in a death, in violation of F.S. 860.01 <u>Specifications of Charge</u>: In that John Martin Higdon, on or about the 24th day of February, 1982, at or near Lake Helen, within Volusia County, Florida, did drive or operate a motor vehicle over the highways, streets or thoroughfares of Florida while intoxicated to the extent as to deprive John Martin Higdon of full possession of his normal faculties, within Volusia County, Florida, and the death of Michael Rhodes, a human being, was caused by the operation of said motor vehicle by John Martin Higdon while intoxicated.

Testimony taken from numerous witnesses at trial indicated that Petitioner's white truck had been travelling at a high rate of speed and was swerving or weaving in a westerly direction on Kicklighter Road (R-V. 1, p. 47-48) when it impacted the two boys who had operated their bicycles into the roadway on Kicklighter Road (R-V. 1, p. 49-55).

Numerous witnesses testified that Petitioner was intoxicated, smelled like alcohol, was leaning and wabbling, was drunk, had slow and slurred speech and had impaired or lost balance. (R-V. 1, p. 70-76, 162-165; R-V. 3, p. 381-387).

Medical testimony established that the cause of the death of both young boys had been the impact of Petitioner's truck.

The sworn jury in Seventh Judicial Circuit Court Case No. 82-681-AA, State of Florida v. John Martin Higdon, returned a verdict in Count I of guilty of vehicular homicide; in Count II, a verdict of guilty of vehicular homicide; in Count III, a verdict of guilty of failure to stop at a scene of an accident resulting in death or personal injury; Count IV, a verdict of guilty of driving while licenses suspended or revoked; in Count V, a verdict of guilty of driving with foreign license during suspension or revocation. (R-V. 6, p. 932-933).

-5-

ARGUMENT

Issue

IS THE SCHEDULE OF LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSES PROMULGATED BY THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT IN 1981 IN ERROR IN CLASSIFYING VEHICULAR HOMICIDE (Section 782.071) AS A NECESSARILY LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF DWI MANSLAUGHTER (Section 860.01).

Section 860.01 Florida Statutes (1981) provided:

Driving an automobile while intoxicated: Punishment. (1) It is unlawful for any person, while in an intoxicated condition or under the influence of intoxicating liquor, model glue, as defined in §877.11, or any substance controlled under chapter 893 to such extent as to deprive him of full possession of his normal faculties, to drive or operate over the highways, streets, or thoroughfares of Florida any automobile, truck, motorcycle, or other vehicle. Any person convicted of a violation of this section shall be punished as provided in §316.028.

(2) If, however, damage to property or person of another, other than damage resulting in death of any person, is done by said intoxicated person under the influence of intoxicating liquor to such extent as to deprive him of full possession of his normal faculties, by reason of the operation of any of said vehicles mentioned herein, such person shall be guilty of a misdemeanor of the first degree, punishable as provided in §775.082 or §775.083, and if the death of any human being be caused by the operation of a motor vehicle by any person while intoxicated, such person shall be deemed guilty of manslaughter, and on conviction shall be punished as provided by existing law related to manslaughter.

(3) Convictions under the provisions of this section shall not be a bar to any civil suit for damages against the person so convicted.

Section 782.07 Florida Statutes provides:

Vehicular homicide. "Vehicular homicide" is the killing of a human being by the operation of a motor vehicle by another in a reckless manner likely to cause the death of, or great bodily harm to, another. Vehicular homicide is a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in §775.082, §775.083, or §775.084.

The Information charging Petitioner with the criminal

offense of driving while intoxicated resulting in a death, charged as violations of Section 860.01 Florida Statutes, read as follows:

> <u>Count One Charge</u>: driving while intoxicated resulting in a death, in violation of F.S. 860.01 <u>Specifications of Charge</u>: In that John Martin Higdon, on or about the 24th day of February, 1982, at or near Lake Helen, within Volusia County, Florida, did drive or operate a motor vehicle over the highways, streets or thoroughfares of Florida while intoxicated to the extent as to deprive John Martin Higdon of full possession of his normal faculties, within Volusia County, Florida, and the death of Edward K. Balken, a human being, was caused by the operation of said motor vehicle by John Martin Higdon while intoxicated.

> <u>Count Two Charge</u>: driving while intoxicated resulting in a death, in violation of F.S. 860.01 <u>Specifications of Charge</u>: In that John Martin Higdon, on or about the 24th day of February, 1982, at or near Lake Helen, within Volusia County, Florida, did drive or operate a motor vehicle over the highways, streets or thoroughfares of Florida while intoxicated to the extent as to deprive John Martin Higdon of full possession of his normal faculties, within Volusia County, Florida, and the death of Michael Rhodes, a human being, was caused by the operation of said motor vehicle by John Martin Higdon while intoxicated.

The question certified to this Court as being one of great public importance and also as being an issue which has caused a divergence of jurisdiction between the Florida First District Court of Appeal and the Florida Second District Court of Appeal as to one holding and the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal and Florida Fourth District Court of Appeal as to another holding is whether or not DWI manslaughter pursuant to former Section 860.01 Florida Statutes (1981) necessarily includes as a lesser offense manslaughter by vehicular homicide pursuant to Section 782.071 Florida Statutes (1981).

The Florida Second District Court of Appeal in <u>Mastro v.</u> <u>State</u>, 448 So.2d 626 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) held that vehicular homicide is not a necessarily lesser included offense of DWI manslaughter. The Florida First District Court of Appeal in <u>Houser v. State</u>, 456 So.2d 1265 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) has held that vehicular homicide is not a necessarily lesser included offense of DWI manslaughter. The Florida Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Spillane v. State</u>, 458 So.2d 838 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984) has held that vehicular homicide is a necessarily lesser included offense of DWI manslaughter. The Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal in the instant case has held that vehicular homicide is a lesser and necessarily included offense of DWI manslaughter.

So are the District Courts of Appeal in the State of Florida in conflict as to whether or not the schedule of lesser included offenses adopted by the Florida Supreme Court in 1981 is correct.

Petitioner herein seeks to raise the issue of whether or not, in light of the above-referenced charges of DWI manslaughter, vehicular homicide pursuant to Section 782.071 Florida Statutes was properly placed before the jury as an option upon which they could return a conviction. Petitioner not only asserts that vehicular homicide pursuant to Section 782.071 Florida Statutes is not a

-8-

necessarily lesser included offense of DWI manslaughter, and as such that the schedule lesser included offenses is incorrect, but also asserts that the charging document filed herein and upon which Petitioner was prosecuted and convicted fails to allege all of the essential elements of a vehicular homicide pursuant to Section 782.071 Florida Statutes and as such failed to properly apprise Petitioner that he was being tried for vehicular homicide. It is this essential <u>due process notice</u> argument which is the foundation of Petitioner's appeal.

In 1948, the Supreme Court of the United States in <u>Cole v</u>. <u>Arkansas</u>, 333 U.S. 196 (1948) established the rule of due process of law which applies herein. The <u>Cole</u> Court employed the following language:

> No principle of procedural due process is more clearly established than that notice of the specific charge, and a chance to be heard in a trial of the issues raised by that charge, if desired, are among the constitutional rights of every accused person in a criminal proceeding in all courts, state or federal. It is as much a violation of due process to send an accused to prison following conviction of a charge of which he was never tried as it would to convict him upon a charge that was never made.

In 1979, the United States Supreme Court in <u>Jackson v.</u> <u>Virginia</u>, 443 U.S. 307 (1979) reiterated said position employing the following language:

> It is axiomatic that a conviction upon a charge not made constitutes a denial of due process.

As forthrightly affirmed in the Florida Supreme Court decision in Ray v. State, 403 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1981), a case if

-9-

carefully digested which reiterates the position taken by the United States Supreme Court in <u>Cole</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Jackson</u>, <u>supra</u>, a charging document must allege all of the essential elements of the offense with which the defendant is eventually convicted or said document is fundamentally defective in support of a conviction for said charge.

Respondent apparently feels that an allegation of DWI manslaughter under Section 860.01 Florida Statutes (1981) with the accompanying allegation that a defendant was under the influence to the extent that his normal faculties were impaired, or similarly was "intoxicated" sufficiently apprises said individual that he will be tried not only upon the issue of whether or not his motor vehicle caused the death while he was "intoxicated" but also upon the issue of whether or not said individual operated his motor vehicle in a reckless manner likely to cause the death of, or great bodily harm to, another. As argued by Respondent in the instant case in the Fifth District Court of Appeal, Grala v. State, 414 So.2d 621 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982) evidence of intoxication is properly admitted on the issue of reckless operation. Such may well be the However, the admission of evidence as to intoxication on case. the issue of recklessness in operation in no way cures the fundamental defect of lack of notice. Wilson v. Eastmore, 419 So.2d 673 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); James E. Wilson, Petitioner, vs. E. W. Pellicer, in his official capacity as Sheriff of Putnam County, United States District Court, Middle District of Florida, Jacksonville Division, Case No. 81-119-Civ-J-B.

In Brown v. State, 206 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1968), the Florida

-10-

Supreme Court addressed the issue of what does, and what does not, constitute a lesser included offense under Florida law. In <u>Wheat v.</u> <u>State</u>, 433 So.2d 1290 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983), the Florida First District Court of Appeal held that <u>Brown</u>, <u>supra</u>, has continuing vitality and is as yet unchanged. In reference to what constitutes a <u>necessarily included offense</u>, the <u>Brown</u>, <u>supra</u>, Court employed the following language:

> This section also stems from §919.16, which requires an instruction on "any offense which is necessarily included in the offense charged". The statutory mandate here requires that the lesser offense be necessarily included in the major offense charged by the accusatory pleading. This simply means that the lesser offense must be an essential aspect of the major offense. In other words, the burden of proof of the major crime cannot be discharged, without proving the lesser crime as an essential link in the chain of evidence. For example, in order to prove a robbery, the state must necessarily prove a larceny as an essential element of the major offense. This is so because every robbery necessarily includes a larceny. It is legally impossible to prove a robbery without also proving larceny. (Emphasis supplied).

In view of present Florida Supreme Court and District Court of Appeal case law it is difficult to understand the conflict which has arisen in determining whether or not vehicular homicide is a necessarily included offense of DWI manslaughter pursuant to Section 860.01 Florida Statutes (1981). The analysis contained in <u>Ray, supra, and Torrence v. State</u>, So.2d (Fla. 5th DCA 1983), Fifth District Court of Appeal Case No. 80-470, decided October 4, 1983, is simple: Is it necessary in proving a DWI manslaughter

-11-

that a vehicular homicide <u>necessarily</u> be proved? Clearly, it is not.

It is not necessary in proving a DWI manslaughter that a vehicular homicide be proved in accordance with the interpretation of both Section 860.01 Florida Statutes (1981) and Section 782.071 Florida Statutes. In the Fifth District Court of Appeal, Respondent argued, apparently successfully, that proof of intoxication is also proof of recklessness and that the causal element in DWI manslaughter is the same as the causal element in vehicular homicide. Such an allegation is patently incorrect and flies in the face of the specific holdings of the Florida Supreme Court and of District Courts of Appeal.

As the Florida Second District Court of Appeal clearly recognized in <u>Mastro</u>, <u>supra</u>, the following is the present law of the State of Florida:

> All of the elements of a Category 1 lesser included offense must be elements of the greater offense. See White v. State, 412 So.2d 28 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982). Vehicular homicide, a violation of §782.071 Florida Statutes (1981) requires proof that the defendant's reckless behavior caused the death for which he is charged. See E. G., JAC v. State, 374 So.2d 606 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979). However, conviction for DWI manslaughter apparently does not require proof that the defendant's negligent behavior caused the death. See Baker v. State, 377 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1979). Thus vehicular homicide requires proof of an element of causation that the greater offense of DWI manslaughter does not require. Accordingly, vehicular homicide is not a Category 1 lesser included offense of DWI manslaughter.

> > -12-

In 1979, the Florida Supreme Court in <u>Baker v. State</u>, 377 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1979) dealt with the argument that the DWI manslaughter statute, 860.01 (2) Florida Statutes, was unconstitutional in that neither negligence nor causation were elements of the crime embodied in the DWI manslaughter statute. In a detailed opinion authored by Mr. Justice Sundberg, the Court employed the following language:

> Accordingly, we hold that neither negligence nor proximate causation is an element of the crime embodied in §860.01 (2) Florida Statutes (1977) and the failure to include them as elements of proof does not deprive appellant of due process of law.

The Court likewise held the following:

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