ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

W. BRIAN BAYLY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 125 N. Ridgewood Avenue Fourth Floor Daytona Beach, Florida 32014 (904) 252-1067)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the statement of the case and facts as set forth by the petitioner. Although there is no disagreement as to the facts, respondent will refer to specific passages from the jury trial throughout the body of the argument.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.390(d) trial counsel below failed to give any reasons for his objection that vehicular homicide should not be presented to the jury as a lesser included offense. This general objection certainly did not argue the reasons set forth in the appellate brief. Therefore, the standard of review should be limited to determine only if the information was fundamentally defective to the extent that it did not notify petitioner that he was on trial for vehicular homicide.

Under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.140(o), petitioner has demonstrated no prejudice that he was unprepared to meet any evidence of vehicular homicide. Rather the record reveals that petitioner was prepared to rebut evidence pertaining to vehicular homicide and indeed, never objected to (or asked for a limiting instruction to) evidence which was admitted relevant to vehicular homicide.

Petitioner's argument is predicated upon section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes (1981). Reading that statute in pari materia with section 860.01(1), Florida Statutes (1981), vehicular homicide must be a lesser included of DWI manslaughter. Section 860.01(1) has no penalty but refers to the general manslaughter statute. In addition, the wording of section 860.01(1) also states that a defendant can be "deemed" guilty of manslaughter. Since vehicular homicide is a lesser included offense of the

general manslaughter statute, then petitioner is on notice that vehicular homicide can be a lesser included of DWI manslaughter. Under the latter reasoning, petitioner cannot complain that he is subject to a second prosecution for the same criminal transaction under rule 3.140(o).

Both DWI manslaughter and vehicular homicide have causal elements. The negligence of the DWI manslaughter statute attaches at the time the accident occurred. Thus the negligence for DWI manslaughter could be equated to the reckless operation of a vehicle and as such vehicular homicide could be considered a lesser included offense.

Petitioner should have been under notice merely by the fact that vehicular homicide is contained in the schedule of lesser included offenses under the DWI manslaughter statute pursuant to IN THE MATTER OF THE USE BY THE TRIAL COURTS OF THE STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTIONS IN CRIMINAL CASES IN THE STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTION OF MISDEMEANOR CASES, 431 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1981).

Even if this court agrees with petitioner's contentions, the petitioner should not be discharged. Rather, this cause should be remanded back to the circuit court to give the State of Florida the opportunity to file an amended information charging vehicular homicide.

PETITIONER'S COUNSEL BELOW
DID NOT SET FORTH THE SPECIFIC
GROUNDS OR ARGUMENT PRESENTED BY
PETITIONER HEREIN AND HIS FAILURE
TO COMPLY WITH FLORIDA RULE OF
CRIMINAL PROCEDURE 3.390 (d)
PRECLUDES REVIEW EXCEPT FOR
FUNDAMANTAL ERROR

ARGUMENT

During the charge conference the state attorney requested vehicular homicide as a lesser included offense (R 837-838). The trial court announced that vehicular homicide was a lesser included offense and that he would give the charge (R 838). Petitioner's counsel below (Mr. Ray) simply stated, "I would object to that. That's not my understanding". (R 838). Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.390(d) states that a party must object to an instruction and must state distinctly the matter to which he objects and "the grounds of his objection". The objection by defense counsel is thus inadequate. Nowhere does defense counsel advocate the arguments presented by petitioner in the instant case.

On appeal, the contention is that the charging documents (pursuant to section 860.01, Florida Statutes 1981), fail to allege all the essential elements of vehicular homicide and thus failed to properly apprise petitioner that he was being tried for that offense. Essentially the contention is put forth as a "due process notice" argument. Petitioner concluded, "...it becomes crystal clear that vehicular homicide is not now, although clearly it could become with a change in the causal requirement a necessarily lesser included offense of DWI manslaughter." (See petitioner's initial

brief at page 17.) Defense counsel's cursory and general objection below certainly cannot be interpreted to encompass the latter arguments.

Petitioner's assertions challenge the schedule of lesser included offenses promulgated IN THE MATTER OF THE USE BY THE TRIAL OF THE STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTION IN CRIMINAL CASES AND THE STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTIONS IN MISDEMEANOR CASES, 431 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1981), to the extent that vehicular homicide is listed as a category one lesser included offense of DWI manslaughter. Yet much of petitioner's analysis is based upon case law and theory as to when a court may sentence an offender for multiple offenses based upon one criminal transaction. Thus much of petitioner's argument is implicitly predicated upon section 775.021(4), Florida Statutes (1981). This statute states:

Whoever, in the course of one criminal transaction or episode, commits an act or acts constituting a violation of two or more criminal statutes, upon conviction and adjudication of guilt shall be sentenced separately for each criminal offense, excluding lesser included offenses, committed during said criminal episode, and the sentencing judge may order the sentences to be served concurrently or consecutively.

The trial was held in April of 1983. The amendment to section 775.021(4) was not effective until June 23, 1983. See, Ch. 83-156, § 2, Laws of Fla. Therefore, section 775.021(4) Florida Statutes (1983) would not have been operable at the time of conviction.

The latter statute is directed towards sentencing; not sufficiency of the information. Although the two areas may overlap somewhat, respondent submits that this issue should not be viewed exclusively from the perspective of statutory elements as analyzed pursuant to section 775.021(4). Respondent submits that this court must review this issue pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.140(o). Inasmuch as the dispute involves the sufficiency of the information (albeit pertaining to a lesser included offense), the latter rule cannot be ignored. Under this rule an information may only be dismissed where it is so vague, indistinct, and indefinite as to mislead the accused or embarrass him in the preparation of his defense or there is a danger of a new prosecution for the same offense. In Jones v. State, 415 So.2d 852 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982) the sufficiency of the information was examined from the perspective of the latter rule based upon a fundamental error examination. The reviewing court explained that there was a difference between an information that completely failed to charge a crime and one where the charging allegations are incomplete or imprecise. The court went on to explain that the former information is one that is vague, indistinct, and indefinite so as to mislead the defendant in the preparation of his defense or expose him to a substantial danger of a new prosecution for the same offense. Inasmuch as defense counsel below, pursuant to Jones, did not allege any prejudice or give any grounds regarding his objection to the lesser-included offense, respondent submits that an analysis of this issue must be on a fundamental basis, i.e., must be examined from the perspective of rule 3.140(o).

In McMurtroy v. State, 400 So.2d 547 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981), it was held that an omission of an intent element from a robbery instruction did not constitute fundamental error in the absence of a real dispute on that question. In Courson v. State, 414 So. 2d 207 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), defendant was charged with attempted first-degree murder. After the verdict was rendered, the defendant in Courson argued for the first time that aggravated assault was not a lesser included offense of attempted first-degree murder because the murder information did not have an allegation of fear. But at the trial the defendant only objected to all of the lesser included offenses as opposed to specificially objecting to aggravated assault as a lesser included offense and thereby was precluded from making that argument on appeal. The respondent is aware that petitioner in the case at bar did object to the vehicularhomicide instruction (although that was the only lesser included offense given). Nevertheless, respondent submits that not only was the objection in the case at bar insufficient under Rule 3.390(d) but the excerpts from the trial reveal that petitioner suffered no prejudice and indeed could not have been embarrassed or surprised that vehicular homicide was a lesser-included offense.

During the state's case in chief a Mr. Bulleman testified that he saw petitioner's truck going by "real fast" and speeding to the extent that the vehicle was going too fast for the road conditions. He further testified that he heard the motor running at a very high rate (R 47, 48, 49). After the impact with the two victims, the witness also testified that he saw petitioner strike a power pole with his vehicle (R 60). Mr. Montgomery testified that he saw petitioner traveling about 50 MPH in a 35 MPH zone. He could also

tell from the sound of the tires that petitioner was speeding. He testified that it was dark at the time of the accident (R 189). (The victims were last seen alive about 8 P.M. (R 273)). Ronald Palmatier testified that on the day of the accident he saw petitioner speeding about four or five o'clock in the afternoon. Petitioner was driving "careless". (R 319). The way the petitioner was driving forced his wife and children to get out of the way (R 319-320). Thomas Hughes also testified he saw petitioner swerving back and forth on the road from one side to the other and going at a very fast speed (R. 334). He described petitioner's driving as "very reckless". (R 335). Respondent notes that defense counsel below never objected to this evidence. Had defense counsel subscribed to what is now argued on appeal, he could have at least asked for a limiting instruction that the evidence be considered only for DWI manslaughter and not for purposes of vehicular homicide.

Much of the defense at trial was devoted to establishing the fact that petitioner drove his vehicle erratically, not because of his intoxication (or recklessness) but because he had hit a telephone pole or power pole as he was trying to return to the scene of the accident (R 635-709). Petitioner himself testified that he was driving 30 to 35 MPH (R 722, 743). He also denied traveling at a high rate of speed because he had ladders on his truck (R 742). He told the jury he traveled down the road carefully and was watching where he was going (R 745). He did not see the bicycle on the other side of the road (R 745).

During his closing argument, petitioner's counsel explained that the road was not as wide as the state witnesses

would have the jurors believe; it was a narrow road (R 884-885, 888). He emphasized that the accident happened on the road (as opposed to off the road) (R 885). He told the jury that the area was dark and that the bicycle had no reflectors (R 888). He specifically told the jury that certain testimony demonstrated that petitioner was not speeding. (R 889). He attempted to minimize Mr. Palmatier's testimony to the extent that petitioner was driving erratically (R 894-895). Finally defense counsel argued that no one saw petitioner's truck weaving until after he had hit the telephone pole (R 899).

Petitioner argues:

Lacking the constitutional notice that he was also being tried for being the proximate cause of the alleged victims' deaths by reckless operation of a his motor vehicle, the Petitioner was not in a position to properly defend and bring before the jury evidence relevant to that issue.

(See, petitioner's initial brief at pages 15-16.) Respondent submits the excerpts cited herein from the trial would belie that argument. Furthermore, it is incumbent upon the petitioner to demonstrate prejudice; it cannot be presumed. Respondent would note that depositions as well as petitioner's opening statement are not a part of the record. But even if these items could demonstrate prejudice, it is the burden of petitioner to make this showing. See, Howell v. State, 337 So.2d 823 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976), and Wright v. Wright, 431 So.2d 177 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). In view of the latter, it cannot be said that the petitioner was mislead or embarrassed in the preparation of his defense when he was also charged with vehicular homicide. Furthermore, respondent submits

that the above trial excerpts demonstrate that petitioner's objection at trial was not directed toward the arguments presented on appeal. Petitioner argues that the "essential" elements of proximate causation and recklessness are omitted from the DWI manslaughter informations. Although essential elements of a crime may be omitted from an information, the omission is not necessarily fatal when viewed from a fundamental perspective. In Jones, supra, the defendant argued that a burglary information was fundamentally defective because it did not allege that the defendant's entry into a structure was without the consent of the person alleged to be the owner or custodian. In Courson, supra, an information for attempted first-degree murder left out the essential element of fear for purposes of giving a lesser included offense instruction on aggravated assault. But both these cases affirmed the judgement and sentences based upon a fundamental review basis.

Other jurisdictions are in accord. In <u>State v.</u>

<u>Carrico</u>, 570 P.2d 49 (Ariz. 1977), the defendant was charged with forceable rape but the jury returned a verdict of statutory rape as a lesser included offense. The Arizona Supreme Court held that statutory rape was <u>not</u> a lesser included offense of forceable rape but held that the defendant was not taken by surprise nor suffered any prejudice pursuant to an examination of the record. Therefore the judgement and sentence was affirmed. Respondent submits this same type of analysis can be applied to the case at bar. <u>See</u>, <u>also State v. Rupp</u>, 586 P.2d 1302, 1308-1309, 120 Ariz. 490 (1 C.A. 1978), where a claim similar to the

one in the case at bar was dismissed because the defendant had actual notice before the trial of the lesser included offense and State v. Williams, 297 NW2d 491 (S.D. 1980) where the defendant argued that an essential element of aggravated assault was not contained in the information (i.e., great bodily harm) and the court ruled that where the state proved all the essential elements, the jury was instructed properly, and the defendant had sufficient actual notice, the conviction would be affirmed.

BASED UPON THE WORDING OF SECTION 860.01 FLORIDA STATUTES (1983), PETITIONER IS NOT SUBJECT TO A SUBSTANTIAL PROBABILITY OF BEING EXPOSED TO ANOTHER PROSECUTION FOR THE SAME OFFENSE.

Respondent would again quote from section 775.021(4) Florida Statutes (1981) as follows, "whoever....commits an act or acts constituting a violation of two or more criminal statutes, upon conviction..., shall be sentenced separately for each criminal offense, excluding lesser included offenses, committed during said criminal episode..." (emphasis supplied). Respondent cites the latter statutory language to compare it with section 860.01 Florida Statutes (1981). Respondent would quote the pertinent language from the latter statute as follows, "...such person shall be deemed guilty of manslaughter and on conviction shall be punished as provided by existing law related to manslaughter." (emphasis supplied). The above quoted statute has no separate sentencing provisions. It is axiomatic that one cannot be sentenced for a crime where the applicable statute has no punishment. Therefore the only way an offender can be sentenced pursuant to section 860.01 is by referring to the general manslaughter statute under section 782.07, Florida Statutes (1981). It would be legally impossible under section 775.021(4) to separately sentence an offender for DWI manslaughter and for general manslaughter when the specific statutes (sections 860.01 and 782.07) provide for just one

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